## SUPREME COURT COPY

### IN THE SUPREME COURT OF THE STATE OF CALIFORNIA

THE PEOPLE,	)	S - 182355	$C_{OPY}$
Petitioner,	)	D210011	
v.	)	B219011	
	)	(Los Angeles C	County
SUPERIOR COURT OF	)	Super. Ct. No.	ZM014203)
LOS ANGELES COUNTY,	)		
	)		
Respondent,	)		SUPPLEME COURT
	)		
CHRISTOPHER SHARKEY,	)		D. C. The are Charges William
	)		JUL 19 2010
Real Party in Interest.	)	San Kara	and making the same way and the same and
	)	Lic	derick K. Oninch Clark
		Alerty v glostene	Deputy
			( I to to to to to

# REAL PARTY IN INTEREST'S OPENING BRIEF ON THE MERITS

MICHAEL P. JUDGE, PUBLIC DEFENDER OF LOS ANGELES COUNTY, CALIFORNIA

Albert J. Menaster,
Karen King,
Jack T. Weedin,

#### IN THE SUPREME COURT OF THE STATE OF CALIFORNIA

THE PEOPLE,	)	S - 182355
•	)	
Petitioner,	)	
	)	B219011
v.	)	
	)	(Los Angeles County
SUPERIOR COURT OF	)	Super. Ct. No. ZM014203)
LOS ANGELES COUNTY,	)	
	)	
Respondent,	)	
	)	
CHRISTOPHER SHARKEY,	)	
	)	
Real Party in Interest.	)	
	)	
	)	

# REAL PARTY IN INTEREST'S OPENING BRIEF ON THE MERITS

TO THE HONORABLE CHIEF JUSTICE AND ASSOCIATE JUSTICES OF THE SUPREME COURT OF THE STATE OF CALIFORNIA:

Real party in interest, Christopher Sharkey, hereinafter "real party," and through his attorney Michael P. Judge, Public Defender of Los Angeles County, hereby files his Opening Brief on the Merits.

#### **SUMMARY**

Welfare and Institutions Code<sup>1/</sup> sections 6600 et seq., The Sexually Violent Predator Act, hereinafter "SVPA," effective January 1, 1996, provides for an indefinite commitment in a secure facility located on the grounds of an institution under the jurisdiction of the Department of Corrections upon a finding that a person is a "'sexually violent predator' [which] means a person who has been convicted of a sexually violent offense against one or more victims and who has a diagnosed mental disorder that makes the person a danger to the health and safety of others in that it is likely that he or she will engage in sexually violent criminal behavior." (§§ 6600, subd. (a); 6604.) The SVPA, a involuntary civil commitment statute, is subject to the most rigorous form of constitutional review, and the act is the be narrowly construed. (Hubbart v. Superior Court (1999) 19 Cal.4th 1138, 1153, fn. 20; Peters v. Superior Court (2000) 79 Cal.App.4th 845, 848.)

Sections 6601 and 6601.3 set forth the pre-petition evaluation process and procedures in SVPA cases. The California Department of Corrections and Rehabilitation, hereinafter "CDCR," screens inmates in its custody who are "serving a determinate prison sentence or whose parole has been revoked" at least six months before their scheduled date of release from prison to determine whether they "may be a sexually violent predator." (§ 6601, subd. (a)(1).)<sup>2/</sup> The evaluation process is to commence at least six months prior to

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>1/</sup> All Statutory references are to the Welfare and Institutions Code unless otherwise stated.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>2</sup>/ Section 6601, subdivision (a)(1), provides that: "Whenever the Secretary of the Department of Corrections and Rehabilitation determines that an individual who is in custody under the jurisdiction of the Department of Corrections and Rehabilitation, and who is either serving a determinate prison (continued...)

the scheduled parole date in order to allow the completion of the evaluation prior to that date, however, "upon a showing of good cause, the Board of Prison Terms [hereinafter "BPT"] may order that a person referred to the State Department or Mental Health [hereinafter "CDMH"] pursuant to subdivision (b) of Section 6601 remain in custody for no more than 45 days beyond the person's scheduled release date for full evaluation pursuant to subdivisions (c) to (i), inclusive, of Section 6601." (§ 6601.3.)<sup>3/</sup> "If as a result of this screening it is determined the person is likely to be a sexually violent predator," that person is referred to the CDMH for a full evaluation. (§ 6601, subd. (b).) The full evaluation by the CDMH is to be performed by two practicing psychiatrists or psychologists. (§ 6601, subd. (d).) If both evaluators concur that the person has a diagnosed mental disorder so that he or she is likely to engage in acts of sexual violence without appropriate treatment and custody, the Director of the CDMH shall forward a request for a commitment petition to the county where the person was convicted of the

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>2</sup>(...continued) sentence or whose parole has been revoked, may be a sexually violent predator, the secretary shall, at least six months prior to that individual's scheduled date for release from prison, refer the person for evaluation in accordance with this section. However, if the inmate was received by the department with less than nine months of his or her sentence to serve, or if the inmate's release date is modified by judicial or administrative action, the secretary may refer the person for evaluation in accordance with this section at a date that is less than six months prior to the inmate's scheduled release date."

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>3/</sup> Section 6601.3, which is at issue in the above-entitled case, provides that: "Upon a showing of good cause, the Board of Prison Terms may order that a person referred to the State Department of Mental Health pursuant to subdivision (b) of Section 6601 remain in custody for no more than 45 days beyond the person's scheduled release date for full evaluation pursuant to subdivisions (c) to (i), inclusive, of Section 6601."

crime for which he is currently imprisoned. (§ 6601, subds. (d), (h)-(i).) If the county's designated legal counsel agrees with the request, he or she shall file a petition for commitment in superior court. (§ 6601, subd. (I).)

In the above-entitled case, the CDCR, Board of Parole Hearings, hereinafter "BPH,", BPT, and CDMH's implementation of sections 6601 and 6601.3 occurred as follows:

On February 19, 2008, while in state prison and approximately nine months prior to his parole date, real party was screened by a CDCR correctional counselor who determined that real party "meets the criteria as a potential SVP pursuant to' section 6600 et seq." because he had been convicted on February 21, 1990, of a qualifying offense in case number A990223.<sup>4/</sup> (Slip Opn. at pp. 2-4; Petition for Writ of Mandate, hereinafter "Petition," Exh. 5, CDC 7377, at p. 84.) The correctional counselor's determination was documented in a Sexually Violent Predator Screening form, hereinafter "CDC 7377," after "a thorough review of all cental file documentation." (Pet., at p. 2.)

On March 12, 2008, CDCR referred real party's case to the BPH for further evaluation because real party meet the requirements for referral to the CDMH. (Slip Opn. at pp. 3-4.) "The referral packet included CDCR form 7377 with supporting documentation pertaining to the 1990 conviction, namely, a legal status summary, a staff recommendation summary which contained information obtained on Sharkey by the correctional counselor, the probation officer's report, the abstract of judgment, chronological history of records by staff, the complaint and information in the criminal case, and a

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>4/</sup> The alleged 1990 conviction presents potentially two qualifying offenses under the SVPA-i.e., a violations of Penal Code sections 261, subdivision (2), and 262. (Pet., at pp. 1-2.)

criminal history on Sharkey." (Slip Opn. at p. 4.) The CDC 7377 also documented the fact that real party's parole release date was November 24, 2008. (Pet., Exh. 5, CDC 7377, at p. 84; Pet., Corrected Reporter's Transcript of June 13, 2009, hereinafter "CRT," at p. 9.)

Supervising parole agent Sara Lopez, assigned to the Sexually Violent Predator for Mental Health Disorders Offenders Unit at the BPH, testified that the CDCR's referral process is complete when it determines the individual has a potential qualifying conviction and sends the CDC 7377 and supporting documents to the BPH. (CRT, at p. 14-15.) Supervising parole agent Lopez further testified that the BPH can make a referral to the CDMH with just the abstract of judgment for the alleged qualifying offense and the BPH could have made the referral immediately to the CDMH (<u>Id</u>., at pp. 18-19).

Notwithstanding the foregoing facts and testimony, on March 17, 2008, supervising parole agent Lopez assigned real party's case to retired parole agent Richard Perry whose only role was to confirm the qualifying conviction set forth in the CDC 7377, instead of referring the case directly to the CDMH. (Slip Opn. at p. 4; CRT, at p. 18.) Parole agent Perry was laid off in July, 2008. (Ibid.) Supervising parole agent Sara Lopez, testified that parole agent Perry submitted no reports on real party's case—i.e., produced no work product—and that on August 13, 2008, after three attempts to rehire parole agent Perry she reassigned real party's case to parole agent Andrea Zahner. (CRT, at pp. 20, 24-25.) Real party's case was finally referred to the CDMH on September 11, 2008. (Slip Opn. at p. 4; Pet., Exh. 3, at pp. 21-22.)

On September 11, 2008, the BPH referred real party's case to the CDMH. (Slip Opn. at p. 4.) On September 19, 2008, Garret Essres, Ph.D., a licensed psychologist on the CDMH panel, performed a Level II screening to determine "whether or not there is any chance of a diagnosis in the presented

case. If there is no chance of diagnosis or the risk is too low the case is not sent on for further evaluation." (Id., at p.5; Pet., Exh. 7, at p. 111.) Dr. Essres referred real party for further evaluation by the CDMH "because of the 'high actuarial risk, possible applicable diagnosis, predatory, untested in the community and high chronicity." (Slip Opn. at p. 5; Pet., Exh. 7, at p. 111; Pet., Exh. 5, at pp. 80-82.)

CDMH evaluator, Dr. Karlsson, interviewed real party on October 2, 2008, submitted his Clinical Evaluation Summary on October 10, 2008, and submitted his final report on October 29, 2008. (Slip Opn. at p. 5; Pet., Exh. 1, at p. 5; Pet., Exh. 4, at p. 66, 68; CRT, at p. 4.) CDMH evaluator, Dr. Koetting, interviewed real party on October 14, 2008, and submitted his Clinical Evaluation Summary on November 17, 2008, in which he opined that real party met the criteria for prosecution under the SVPA. (Ibid.)

"On November 18, 2008, with only six days before Sharkey's scheduled release date" CDMH case worker Elizabeth Mard requested a 45-day extension to allow Dr. Koetting to completed his final report. (Slip Opn. at p. 5.) Ms. Mard had no recollection of whether she contacted Dr. Koetting or whether he contacted her. (Pet., Exh. 7, at p. 108.) Ms. Mard has no fax or record of the communication. (<u>Ibid.</u>) Furthermore, Ms. Mard has no e-mail, fax, or record of her request for the 45-day extension to the BPH on November 19, 2008, or that she forwarded the Level II screening to the BPH. (<u>Ibid.</u>)

On November 20, 2008, Deputy Commissioner Marita Williams, granted the 45-day hold pursuant to section 6601.3 "to facilitate full SVP evaluations to be concluded by the" CDMH effective from November 24, 2008, to January 8, 2009. (Slip Opn. at p. 5; Pet., Exh. 4, p. 60; Pet., Exh. 5, at p. 83.) Ms. Mard's file note reflected that Dr. Koetting needed more time to complete his report as the case was complex but she cannot recall if she

actually offered those facts to Deputy Commissioner Williams as the basis for the extension. (Pet., Exh. 1, at p. 6.) Deputy Commissioner Williams stated in her declaration that it is her custom and practice to review a CDMH Level II screening document to insure the inmate meets the initial screening criteria for SVP screening but she was unable to produce real party's Level II screening. (Pet., Exh. 5, at p. 83.)

On December 2, 2008, Dr. Koetting completed his final report. (Slip Opn. at p. 5.)

On December 10, 2008, the CDMH "recommended to the Los Angeles County District Attorney that it proceed with a civil commitment petition because Sharkey met the statutory criteria for commitment under the SVPA." (Slip Opn. at p. 5.)

In summary, CDCR timely began its section 6601 evaluation approximately nine months before real party's November 24, 2008, parole date and completed it in approximately three days, well within section 6601's six month requirement. Then the BPH <u>failed</u> to timely conduct and complete its evaluation which merely entailed verification of information supplied by CDCR which was sufficient, in and of itself, to commence the CDMH evaluation process without further investigation or delay according to the testimony of supervising parole agent Lopez. (CRT, at pp. 18-19.) Instead, the evaluation process was negligently allowed to languish from March 17, 2008, when parole agent Perry was assigned until it was reassigned to parole agent Zahner on August 13, 2008–i.e., a period of almost five months. Notably, after the case was reassigned to parole agent Zahner, she was able to complete the evaluation in approximately 29 days. A second negligent, unwarranted, and unnecessary delay occurred when the CDMH allowed one of its evaluators, Dr. Koetting, to delay the completion his final report

notwithstanding the fact that Dr. Koetting had submitted his Clinical Evaluation Summary seven days before real party's parole date in which he concluded real party met the SVPA criteria and the other evaluator, Dr. Karlsson, timely completed his final report approximately three weeks prior to real party's parole date. In light of these facts, it is self-evident that the granting of the 45-day extension for Dr. Koetting to submit his final report on the purported ground that case was "complex" was nothing more than a scam. Indeed, there is no evidence that even the mere conclusion more time was needed because of the complexity of the case was even communicated to Deputy Commissioner Williams. (Pet., Exh. 1, at p. 6.) Had either the BPH and/or the CDMH timely and competently performed their statutorily mandated duties, consideration of the 45-day hold would not have been necessary.

#### **ISSUES PRESENTED**

- 1. What constitutes "good cause" for the imposition of a 45-day hold and extension of a scheduled parole date under Welfare and Institutions Code section 6601.3 to permit evaluation of the defendant under the Sexually Violent Predator Act?
- 2. Is California Code of Regulations, title 15, section 2600.1, subdivision (d), which defines the term "good cause" as used in section 6601.3 as "some evidence" that the inmate has a prior qualifying conviction and is likely to engage in predatory criminal behavior, a valid regulation?
- 3. Does the "good faith mistake of law or fact" exception apply in these cases?

//

//

11

#### STATEMENT OF THE CASE AND FACTS

#### A. Proceedings in the Trial Court.

On December 23, 2008, Steve Cooley, the District Attorney of Los Angeles County, hereinafter "petitioner," filed a petition alleging that real party came within the purview of the SVPA because he was allegedly convicted of three sexually violent offenses. (Slip opn. at pp. 3, 6.) The alleged sexually violent offenses were for a 1979 conviction for rape by force (Pen. Code § 261) and 1990 convictions for rape by force and assault with intent to commit rape (Pen. Code § 220). (Slip Opn. at p. 3.)

On January 13, 2009, real party "filed a motion to dismiss the SVP petition on the ground that he had been in unlawful custody since November 24, 2008" contending "that there was no justification for the Board's imposition, on November 20, 2008, of a 45-day hold pursuant to section 6601.3." (Slip Opn. at p. 6.) "The proffered justification for the 45-day extension was "to facilitate full SVP evaluations to be concluded by the CDMH, but no explanation was given for the failure to complete the evaluations by November 24, 2008." (Ibid.) Real party contended that the delay was attributable to negligence on the part of the BPH, CDCR, and CDMH in failing to process real party's case so that full SVP evaluations would be completed before real party's November 24, 2008, parole date. (Pet., Exh. 3, at pp. 15-20.)

On January 14, 2009, petitioner "filed a response to the dismissal motion, arguing that the CDCR, the CDMH and the Board all acted with reasonable dispatch." (Slip Opn. at p. 6.)

"Thereafter, the parties filed supplemental papers with respect to the validity of the pertinent regulation, California Code of Regulations, title 15, section 2600.1, which defines 'good cause' for purposes of imposing a 45-day

hold pursuant to section 6601.3." (Slip Opn. at p. 7.) Real party "contended the regulation does not meet due process standards because it lacks any provision to determine whether the delay was justified and whether the CDMH and the Board exercised due diligence. Further, even assuming the regulation is valid, no good cause was shown when the Board extended his scheduled release date by 45 days to allow more time to determine whether Sharkey met the criteria for civil commitment as an SVP." (Ibid.) Petitioner contended "the 45-day extension was proper because there was some evidence that Sharkey committed a sexually violent offense and some evidence he was likely to engage in sexually violent predatory criminal behavior." (Ibid.)

"On June 15, 2009, the trial court conducting an evidentiary hearing on the dismissal motion and took the matter under submission. On July 24, 2009, the trial court granted Sharkey's motion to dismiss the People's petition to commit him as an SVP on the ground there was no good cause to justify the 45-day hold to facilitate full SVP evaluations by the CDMH" (Slip Opn. at p.8.) The trial court found California Code of Regulations, title 15, section 2600.1 (hereinafter "Regulation 2600.1"), subdivision (d), to be a "tautology—a statement true by its own definition and therefore fundamentally uninformative. The extension ruling simply states the purpose of the extension; it does not state the justification for why the evaluation could not have been timely completed." (Pet., Exh. 1, at p. 6.) The lower court elaborated on its ruling as follows:

"Under the definition of good cause in section [2600.1] of the regulations, there is good cause. There was 'some evidence' that Mr. Sharkey met both parts of the criteria listed in section [2600]-a qualifying offense and a [likelihood] of engaging in sexually violent predatory behavior, the latter satisfied by Dr. Karlsson's October 10, 2008 Clinical Evaluation Summary and his October 29, 2008 written report.

"However, the court finds that the good cause definition set out in section [2600.1] of the CCR is clearly erroneous. It is not a definition of good cause-a reason why more time is needed. It simply declares that if the state of the underlying evidence is satisfactory under the 'some evidence' standard, the deadline is not enforced.' Merely 'because 'some evidence' exists that an inmate meets the criteria as a SVP cannot establish good cause to meet the filing deadline." (Slip Opn. at p. 8.)

### B. Proceedings in the Court of Appeal.

On September 22, 2009, real party filed a Petition for Writ of Mandate in the Court of Appeal, Second Appellate District, Division Three, case number B219011.

On March 25, 2010, in a published decision the Court of Appeal reversed the trial court's ruling holding Regulation 2600.1, subdivision (d)'s, definition of "good cause is "proper" and its "standard for good cause was met in this case—there was some evidence before the Board that Sharkey had committed a qualifying offense and some evidence that he is likely to engage in sexually violent predatory criminal behavior." (Slip Opn. at pp. 2-3.) Alternatively, the Court of Appeal ruled that section 6601, subdivision (a)(2)'s, provision that "[a] petition shall not be dismissed on the basis of a later judicial or administrative determination that the individual's custody was unlawful, if the unlawful custody was the result of a good faith mistake of fact or law" would have permitted the petitioner and the Board to rely on the regulation so as to preclude a dismissal of the petition. (Id., at pp. 16-17.)

// // //

#### **MEMORANDUM OF POINTS AND AUTHORITIES**

I

#### STANDARD OF REVIEW

The instant case presents mixed question of law and fact—i.e., the facts underlying the finding of good cause and whether the lower court applied the correct legal standard in its determination of "good cause" based upon those facts. Mixed questions of law and fact are "subject to a substantial evidence standard of review as to factual findings and de novo review as to 'the court's applying the facts to the incorrect legal standards." (In re Adoption of Allison C. (2008) 164 Cal.App.4th 1004, 1010, Fn.6; e.g., People v. Sardinas (2009) 170 Cal.App.4th 488,493-494, "We defer to the trial court's factual findings, express or implied, where supported by substantial evidence. In determining whether, on the facts so found, the search or seizure was reasonable under the Fourth Amendment, we exercise our independent judgment.")

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