Supreme Court Copy

IN THE SUPREME COURT OF THE STATE OF CALIFORNIA

PEOPLE OF THE STATE OF CALIFORNIA,) No. S 182355
Petitioner,) 2d Dist. No. B219011
v. SUPERIOR COURT OF CALIFORNIA FOR) (Los Angeles County) Super.Ct.No.ZM014203)
LOS ANGELES COUNTY, Respondent.	SUPREME COURT FILED
CHRISTOPHER SHARKEY,) AUG 1 6 2010
Real Party in Interest.) Frederick K. Ohlrich Clerk
	Deputy

ANSWER BRIEF ON THE MERITS

STEVE COOLEY District Attorney of Los Angeles County

IRENE WAKABAYASHI State Bar No. 132848 Head Deputy

SHIRLEY S.N. SUN State Bar No. 112803 Deputy District Attorney

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

ARGUMENT

T

"GOOD CAUSE" EXISTS TO IMPOSE A 45-DAY HOLD AND EXTEND A SCHEDULED PAROLE DATE UNDER SECTION 6601.3 TO PERMIT AN INMATE TO BE EVALUATED UNDER THE SVPA WHEN SOME EVIDENCE SHOWS THAT INMATE TO BE A POTENTIAL SVP

Under section 6601.3, the Board could detain an inmate referred to DMH under section 6601, subdivision (b), for up to 45 days past his EPRD,⁶

^{6.} Inmates not referred or found not to be SVPs are released no later than 45 days beyond their EPRD. (Cal. Code Regs., tit. 15, § 2600.1, subd. (e).)

"[u]pon a showing of good cause," in order to evaluate the inmate fully under section 6601, subdivisions (c) to (i). The issue here is what constitutes such good cause.

A.

"Good Cause" Must Be Determined By Reference To The Particular Circumstances Of Each Case

The *Lucas* court began its analysis of "good cause" as used in section 6601.3 by acknowledging that the term "may be difficult to define with precision, since it must, in a great measure, be determined by reference to the particular circumstances appearing in each case." (*Lucas* Opn., pp. 12-13, citing *Ex Parte Bull* (1871) 42 Cal. 196, 199.) The *Lucas* court went on to cite from *Cal. Portland Cement Co. v. Cal. Unemp. Ins. Appeals Board* (1960) 178 Cal.App.2d 263 (hereafter "Cal. Portland") what has been said about "good cause" in the case law: "Good cause' must be so interpreted that the fundamental purpose of the legislation shall not be destroyed." (*Lucas* Opn., p. 13; *Cal. Portland, supra*, 178 Cal.App.2d at p. 272.)

The issue in *Cal. Portland* was what the Legislature had in mind when it provided that the employer's account would not be chargeable for unemployment benefits vis-à-vis an employee who left his employ "voluntarily and without good cause." One appellate court offered this contextual interpretation for "good cause": "'By "good cause" as used in the Act is obviously meant such a cause as justifies an employee's voluntarily leaving the ranks of the employed and joining the ranks of the unemployed." (*Cal. Portland, supra,* 178 Cal.App.2d at p. 272, quoting *Sun Shipbuilding & Dry D. Co. v. Unemployment Comp. Board of Review* (1948) 358 Pa. 224, 231 [56 A.2d 254, 258] (hereafter "*Sun Shipbuilding*").)

The concept of implied exception was introduced into "good cause" in order to explicate the incongruity of an unemployment benefits

statute providing benefits for those who voluntarily left their employment with good cause even though the declared purpose of the statutory scheme was to relieve economic insecurity due to "involuntary unemployment." In this connection, the court stated:

"good cause' and 'personal reasons' are flexible phrases, ... However, in whatever context they appear, they connote, as minimum requirements, real circumstances, substantial reasons, objective conditions, palpable forces that operate to produce correlative results, adequate excuses that will bear the test of reason, just grounds for action, and always the element of good faith. [¶] When related to the context of the statute, 'good cause' takes on the hue of its surroundings, and it ... must be construed in the light reflected by its text and objectives."

(Cal. Portland, supra, 178 Cal. App.2d at pp. 272-273, quoting Bliley Electric, supra, 158 Pa. Super. at p. 556 [45 A.2d at p. 903].)

In holding that a section 6601.3 hold "cannot be justified based on the definition of good cause contained in regulation 2600.1(d) because the regulation is inconsistent with the legislative intent behind the statutory good cause requirement" which necessarily implies exceptional circumstances that made it impossible to meet the normal time limits (*Lucas* Opn., pp. 12, 17-19),

^{7.} Cal. Portland, supra, 178 Cal.App.2d at p. 273, quoting Bliley Electric Co. v. Unemployment Comp. Board of Review (1946) 158 Pa.Super. 548, 556 [45 A.2d 898, 903] (hereafter "Bliley Electric"):

[&]quot;The purpose of [the unemployment statute] is to relieve economic insecurity due to 'involuntary unemployment.' Yet selection of involuntarily unemployed workers is accomplished by means of several eligibility and disqualification provisions, and the provision under review provides benefits for employes who voluntarily leave employment with good cause. Thus the legislature enacted, paradoxical as it may seem, that an employe who voluntarily leaves his work with good cause is involuntarily unemployed."

the *Lucas* court took only the "adequate excuses" meaning of "good cause" from the case law analysis. (*Cal. Portland*, *supra*, 178 Cal.App.2d at p. 273.) But "good cause" can also mean "real circumstances, substantial reasons, objective conditions, palpable forces that operate to produce correlative results ... [or] just grounds for action," if in each case there is "the element of good faith." (*Id.* at pp. 272-273.)

Clearly, the meaning of "good cause" must be derived from a close reading of the statute, with particular attention to the context in which it appears, following the rules of statutory interpretation and bearing in mind the legislative intent of the statute and the scheme of which it is a part. Thus, just as "good cause" in the context of leaving one's employment "voluntarily and without good cause" as set forth in the unemployment benefits statute means "such a cause as justifies an employee's voluntarily leaving the ranks of the employed and joining the ranks of the unemployed." (*Cal. Portland, supra*, 178 Cal.App.2d at p. 272, quoting *Sun Shipbuilding, supra*, 358 Pa. at p. 231 [56 A.2d at p. 258]), so "good cause" in the context of section 6601.3 means cause to justify detaining an inmate referred to DMH under section 6601, subdivision (b), past his EPRD

^{8.} The *Sharkey* trial court also only considered the "adequate excuses" meaning of "good cause" in its ruling. (Ex. 1, pp. 2, 6.) This is the meaning applicable to motions to continue hearings, e.g., under Penal Code sections 859b or 1050. But the legislative intent of time limits in Penal Code section 859b, for example, is clearly to guarantee a speedy preliminary hearing for accused persons who have remained in custody. Thus, the prosecution must establish good cause for a continuance or suffer dismissal of the complaint, and the trade-off for continuing the hearing past the statutory time for good cause is to release the defendant on his own recognizance. (Pen. Code, § 859b, ¶¶ 3, 5.) The legislative intent of the SVPA is the identification of SVPs so that they may be detained. Thus, upon a showing of good cause, the inmate is detained beyond his EPRD and not released.

in order to evaluate the inmate fully under section 6601, subdivisions (c) to (i). (§ 6601.3.) This interpretation of "good cause" obviously gives the words their plain meaning and thus comports with the first rule of statutory interpretation. (Solberg v. Superior Court (1977) 19 Cal.3d 182, 198 ["When statutory language is thus clear and unambiguous there is no need for construction, and courts should not indulge in it"]; People v. Belleci (1979) 24 Cal.3d 879, 884 ["We have declined to follow the plain meaning of a statute only when it would inevitably have frustrated the manifest purposes of the legislation as a whole or led to absurd results"]; Green v. State of California (2007) 42 Cal.4th 254, 260 ["we ascertain the Legislature's intent in order to effectuate the law's purpose. ... We must look to the statute's words and give them their usual and ordinary meaning. ... The statute's plain meaning controls the court's interpretation unless its words are ambiguous"].)

In sum, if the showing of "good cause" in its statutory context is to justify detaining an inmate referred under section 6601, subdivision (b), past his EPRD in order to evaluate him fully under section 6601, subdivisions (c) to (i), viewing "good cause" as "substantial reasons, objective conditions, [or] just grounds for [detaining someone for evaluation]" (*Cal. Portland, supra*, 178 Cal. App.2d at pp. 272-273, quoting *Bliley Electric, supra*, 158 Pa.Super. at p. 556 [45 A.2d at p. 903]) is consonant with its statutory context without further construction beyond the plain meaning of the statutory language.

В.

The Regulation's Definition Of "Good Cause" As Used In Section 6601.3 Is Consistent With The Legislative Intent Of The SVPA As A Whole And The "Good Cause" Requirement Of That Section

The legislative intent of the SVPA is indisputably "to identify persons who have certain diagnosed mental disorders that make them likely to engage in acts of sexual violence and to confine them for treatment of their disorders as long as the disorders persist." (*Sharkey* Opn., p. 15, citing *People v. Dean* (2009) 174 Cal.App.4th 186, 191; cf. *Lucas* Opn., pp. 5-6, 14-15, citing respectively *Lee v. Superior Court* (2009) 177 Cal.App.4th 1108, 1122, and *People v. Allen* (2008) 44 Cal.4th 843, 857; also see Stats. 1995, ch. 763, § 1, pp. 5921-5922.)

Both Real Party Sharkey and the Lucas court assume that the Legislature's intent in enacting provisions for identifying SVPs while they are incarcerated was to balance the interests of SVP inmates "in ending their imprisonment as soon as otherwise provided by law" against the public interest in treating the mental disorders of SVPs which make them a threat to society. (Lucas Opn., pp. 14-15.) Accordingly, Sharkey argues that the legislative history of section 6601.3, with its repeated references to short and judicially modified prison terms or advanced EPRDs which would prevent DMH from finishing the inmate's evaluation before his EPRD, "demonstrates legislative intent that 45-day holds only be granted in very limited circumstances." (Real Party's Opening Brief on the Merits (hereafter "RPOB"), p. 16, see pp. 16-20.) He further contends that both Courts of Appeal erred in their interpretation of the regulation and that "exceptional circumstances" and "good cause" are required before a 3-day and in turn a 45-day hold may be imposed. (Id. at pp. 20-26.) But legislative committee analyses of background are not exhaustive, but merely instructive or illustrative, and Sharkey is mistaken as to what regulation 2600.1 requires.

In analyzing what constitutes "good cause," our focus should be on the fundamental purpose of the SVPA. (*Cal. Portland, supra*, 178 Cal.App.2d at p. 272 ["'Good cause' must be so interpreted that the fundamental purpose of the legislation shall not be destroyed"].) The SVPA

contemplates screening and evaluating inmates beginning six months before their EPRD to determine whether the People should seek to have certain inmates civilly committed as SVPs. (§ 6601, subds. (a) – (d).) However, full evaluation pursuant to subdivisions (c) to (i) of section 6601 is a lengthy process. An evaluation in accordance with a standardized assessment protocol developed by DMH to determine whether the person is an SVP as defined by the statute (§ 6601, subd. (c)) is followed by evaluation by two practicing psychiatrists or psychologists. If the professionals concur that the inmate has a diagnosed mental disorder that makes him likely to engage in acts of sexual violence without appropriate treatment, the evaluation reports and supporting documents are forwarded to the County's designated counsel who may file a petition for civil commitment if (s)he concurs with the recommendation. (Id., subds. (d)-(i).) Moreover, full evaluation contemplates further psychological evaluations, if the initial psychiatrist or psychologist evaluators disagree as to whether the inmate has a diagnosed SVP-type mental disorder. (See § 6601, subd. (e).) Thus, the SVPA requires not merely the identification of inmates with diagnosed mental disorders that make them potential SVPs, but also that this process be carried out by a standardized, meticulous procedure that promises accuracy.

In light of this clear interest in accurately identifying SVPs and diagnosing their mental disease so that they can be treated, section 6601.3 by its own terms serves SVPA's purpose of identifying SVP inmates before their release by allowing the Board to detain potential SVPs for up to 45 days past their EPRD where a full evaluation is needed but not finished. To interpret "good cause" under section 6601.3 as requiring the state agencies to show exceptional circumstances to excuse compliance with EPRD deadlines so that 45-day holds would be granted only in very limited circumstances, as

Sharkey urges, is to transform the EPRD into a statutory right⁹ to cut off the government's ability to act under the SVPA on that date. Yet the Legislature declared that early determination of the SVP status of inmates before expiration of their terms of imprisonment, "is in the interest of society" (Stats. 1995, ch. 763, § 1, p. 5921): i.e., the suggested deadlines do not serve the inmates' interest "in ending their imprisonment as soon as otherwise provided by law" (*Lucas* Opn., p. 15), but are the best way to insure that SVPs are not released into society before their psychological condition is fully evaluated, to pose a danger to the public. (Cf. *Sharkey* Opn., pp. 15, 17.) In fact, the EPRD may be extended according to the provisions of the SVPA.

When the DMH evaluation of an inmate with qualifying prior convictions yields the requisite indicia of mental disease, the potential SVP is detained for civil commitment proceedings and treatment in a state hospital according to the provisions of the SVPA. (§§ 6601, subd. (a)(2), 6601.5, 6602, 6602.5.) As to persons identified through the DMH's evaluation process as potential SVPs, the EPRD is extended (parole is tolled) until the judicial process and SVP treatment is successfully completed. (§ 6601, subd. (k); Cal. Code Regs., tit. 15, § 2600.1, subd. (f).) Plainly, the paramount purpose of the SVPA is to detain identified SVPs for treatment of their mental disease. (*People v. Dean, supra*, 174 Cal.App.4th at p. 191; *Lee v. Superior Court, supra*, 177 Cal.App.4th at p. 1122; *People v. Allen, supra*,

^{9.} Interpreting "good cause" as "exceptional circumstances" to excuse compliance with the statutory deadlines does not comport with the SVPA's purpose of accurately identifying potential SVPs before they are released from prison or benefit the inmate population as a whole. Under Sharkey's definition of good cause, loss of prison records through fire as an exceptional circumstance is good cause for extending the EPRD of any inmate, even without evidence of SVP criminal history. This would infringe the liberty interest of non-SVP inmates, contrary to the purpose of the SVPA.

44 Cal.4th at p. 857; Stats. 1995, ch. 763, § 1, pp. 5921-5922.) The evidence of prior SVP criminal history and a diagnosis by DMH of a current mental disease making them prone to predatory criminal conduct suffice to have an inmate detained for further civil commitment proceedings.

Since an inmate's EPRD may be extended based on evidence of prior SVP criminal history and a diagnosis by DMH of a current mental disease making them prone to predatory criminal conduct, imposing a 45-day hold under section 6601.3 for good cause shown, to allow DMH to complete its mental evaluation would put the inmate temporarily in the approximate posture as an inmate pending civil commitment proceedings. Moreover, since the object of section 6601.3 is to let DMH complete its evaluation during the 45-day hold period (which, assuming an SVP diagnosis, puts the inmate in the same posture as one whose parole is tolled pending SVPA proceedings), the validity of a 45-day hold under section 6601.3 should turn upon the existence of reasonable cause to detain the inmate for a complete evaluation of his mental condition.

When there is some evidence that the inmate has a prior qualifying conviction and is likely to engage in predatory criminal behavior (this is the regulation's definition of "good cause"), there is reasonable cause to believe that he is a potential SVP and should be fully evaluated by DMH. There is also some ground for believing that DMH would diagnose him with a current mental disease posing a danger to society so that his EPRD would be extended under the SVPA. (§ 6601, subd. (k).) Thus, consistent with the fundamental purpose of the SVPA to identify and detain SVPs for treatment and the objective of section 6601.3, the Board may extend an inmate's EPRD where good cause exists to believe that a full evaluation by DMH is needed (i.e., there is some evidence of an SVP prior conviction and a likelihood of

predatory criminal behavior) but such an evaluation has not been done.

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